IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Hamza Zalyaul,) Supreme Court Case No.: 83334
Appellant	Electronically Filed Dec 20 2021 06:37 p.m
vs.) Elizabeth A. Brown (Clerk of Supreme Court
The State of Nevada,)
Respondent.)
) APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Nevada Defense Group KELSEY BERNSTEIN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13825 DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10755 714 S. Fourth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 988-2600 Attorney for Appellant Hamza Zalyaul

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

Pursuant to NRAP 26.1, the undersigned counsel of record certifies that there are no persons or entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) that must be disclosed.

DATED this 20 day of December , 2021.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court retains jurisdiction as an appeal from a judgment in a criminal case pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). A timely notice of appeal was filed on August 4, 2021, approximately 27 days after the Judgment of Conviction was filed on July 7, 2021.

NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter may be assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals as an appeal from a judgment of conviction based upon a plea of guilty pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1).

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Statement of the Issues

- 1. Did the District Court err in denying the Motion to Dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction when the District Court lacked jurisdiction since Appellant was 14 years old at the time of the offense, but the Juvenile Court also lost jurisdiction because Appellant was arrested after the age of 21?
- 2. Did the District Court err in denying the Motion to Dismiss following an excessive delay in prosecution after law enforcement took no action on the allegations for seven years after disclosure?
- 3. Did the District Court err in denying Appellant's request to withdraw his plea, pursuant to contractual obligations and expectations of the parties, when the District Court imposed a sentence over and above that which was contemplated by the parties pursuant to a plea bargain?

II. Statement of Relevant Facts

Appellant Hamza Zalyaul was charged by way of criminal complaint with six counts of Sexual Assault Against a Child Under Fourteen (Category A felony) (Bates 043). The complaint alleged that Mr. Zalyaul assaulted a family friend during the summer of 2013, when she was 11 years old and he was 14 years old (*id.*). The named victim, S.D., and her mother reported the assaults to law enforcement in September 2013, shortly after the reported incidents took place, but the case closed without any further action at that time (*id.*). Almost six years later, in February 2019, a different detective was assigned to reopen the case and re-interviewed S.D. and her mother in July 2019 (*id.*). Several months after these second interviews, law enforcement applied for an arrest warrant, which was granted on October 17, 2019 (*id.*). Mr. Zalyaul was eventually arrested on January 2020, when he was 22 years old (*id.*).

On March 8, 2021, a guilty plea agreement was filed wherein Mr. Zalyaul would plead guilty to one count of Attempt Sexual Assault. Pursuant to the negotiations, the State would have no opposition to probation, and if honorably discharged, Mr. Zalyaul could withdraw his plea and enter a plea to Open or Gross Lewdness (Gross Misdemeanor) with credit for time served; the State further agreed not to object to formally sealing Mr. Zalyaul's criminal record

once the requisite time period had passed, and Mr. Zalyaul would be released from electronic monitoring and placed on intensive supervision after entry of plea (Bates 001). He entered his plea pursuant to these negotiations on March 9, 2021 (Bates 010; 012).

The intent of the parties was to craft a negotiation similar to one that would be made in juvenile court, as Mr. Zalyaul was 14 years old at the time of the offense while the victim was 11 years old (Bates 024; 025). Despite early disclosure to law enforcement, no action was taken on the case until Mr. Zalyaul was 21 years old at the time of the warrant request, resulting in charges filed as an adult (Bates 043). During negotiations, the parties agreed that because of Mr. Zalyaul's young age at the time of the offense, but the arrest being executed after the age of 21, this case fell within a statutory grey area as it pertains to jurisdiction, and whether the case belongs in the adult or juvenile justice system (Bates 025).

At sentencing, the District Court did not follow the negotiations, and *substantially* deviated upwards, sentencing Mr. Zalyaul to 4-10 years in the Nevada Department of Corrections (Bates 032), despite the fact that he was 14 years old at the time and had no adverse contact with law enforcement prior to this case.

After the District Court pronounced its sentence, Defense Counsel moved to withdraw Mr. Zalyaul's plea. Defense argued that the District Court accepted the plea and its terms, Mr. Zalyaul waived substantial constitutional rights pursuant to that plea, and if the District Court was going to thwart the expectations of the parties by deviating upward from the plea negotiation, Mr. Zalyaul was entitled to withdraw his plea (Bates 034). The argument was contractual in nature, and argued that a negotiation is premised upon specific conditions, and if those conditions are rejected, the contract becomes illusory because the Defendant gives the State certain benefits, but does not receive the expected benefits in return (Bates 035).

Defense requested a briefing schedule on the issue, but the briefing request and motion to withdraw his plea was denied (Bates 036). The Judgment of Conviction was filed on July 7, 2021 (Bates 038).

Two days later, on July 9, 2021, Defense filed a Motion to Dismiss or, In the Alternative, Motion to Reconsider Sentence (Bates 041). The Motion to Dismiss sought to dismiss the case on both the issue of improper jurisdiction, as well as the issue of Mr. Zalyaul's delayed prosecution (Bates 098). The State's Opposition was filed on July 26, 2021, one day before the scheduled hearing on the Motion (Bates 058). Defense asked for a quick continuance to file a written

reply, noting that Mr. Zalyaul was running up against the deadline to file a notice of appeal (Bates 074). The Reply was filed two days later on July 29, 2021 (Bates 076).

The hearing was held on August 3, 2021 (Bates 096). During the hearing, the Court adopted the substantive reasoning as set forth in the State's opposition, but simultaneously denied the Motion to Dismiss because the District Court lacked jurisdiction to consider the Motion once the Judgment of Conviction was filed (Bates 108). The Order Denying the Motion to Dismiss was filed on August 4, 2021 (Bates 110). Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed the same day (Bates 113).

III. Summary of the Argument

The delayed prosecution of Mr. Zalyaul's case resulted in a jurisdictional void; as the juvenile court is a product of statute, its jurisdiction is governed by this statutory authority. Juvenile courts retain jurisdiction for crimes committed by minor children, and Mr. Zalyaul qualified for juvenile treatment because he was 14 years old at the time of the offense. However, law enforcement's seven-year delay in prosecution from the initial disclosure resulted in Mr. Zalyaul's arrest at the age of 22.

Juvenile courts lose jurisdiction over cases once the minor child attains the age of 21, and although there are statutes that govern jurisdiction in the vast majority of cases, none of them apply here. A jurisdictional transfer to the adult court once the minor has attained the age of 21 only applies for offenses committed when the minor was 16-18 years old. Because Mr. Zalyaul was only 14 at the time of the offense, there are no statutory provisions that govern his case – the District Court lacks jurisdiction because he was 14 at the time of the offense, but the Juvenile Court lacks jurisdiction because he was arrested over the age of 21.

The delay in prosecution cannot be used against him, as it was solely the lackluster efforts of law enforcement that resulted in this delay. Mr. Zalyaul was not hiding from law enforcement, and law enforcement was further provided information of his whereabouts. Although Mr. Zalyaul relocated out of the country with his parents for two years until he completed high school, upon his return to the United States, still no further action was taken for another four years.

This delay in prosecution not only created a jurisdictional conundrum (which ultimately resulted in an adult filing for a juvenile crime), but further resulted in a speedy trial violation as articled by *Doggett*, *Barker* and *Inzunza*.

Application of the four-part *Doggett* test concludes that a speedy trial violation occurred, Mr. Zalyaul was prejudiced, and the delay is solely attributable to law enforcement.

Lastly, Courts have begun to apply principles of contract in the criminal context, specifically with application to guilty plea agreements. As enforcement of the bargain is contingent upon acceptance by the trial court, the trial court has become an indispensable party to the contract itself.

As a party to the contract, the court (as with all other parties) is subject to certain obligations. Although the court retains the discretion of whether to accept a plea, if that plea is accepted, the discretion of the court in imposing sentence must be tempered with the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. While the covenant does not restrict what the decisions the court can make in its sentencing discretion, it does recognize that all acts of discretion must be exercised in good faith and in accordance with the justified expectations of the other parties.

In this case, where the parties bargained for a specific sentence and charge (as the negotiations further contemplated a reduced offense to a gross misdemeanor upon completion of probation), the justified expectation of the parties was to receive that specific sentence and charge, as both the prosecution

and defense believe the negotiated sentence was appropriate for the circumstances of this specific case. Although the court still retains the discretion of whether or not to accept the terms of the bargain itself, contract law provides a remedy when the court acts in a manner inconsistent with their justified expectations of the parties: an option to withdraw the plea.

Permitting a defendant to withdraw his plea when the trial court imposes a sentence over and above that contemplated in the plea bargain is not only sound application of contract principles, but also comports with public policy and equity favoring plea bargains by providing predictability and assurances that a defendant is not waiving valuable constitutional rights in exchange for a completely unknown outcome with no remedy for when the expectations of the parties are thwarted.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction, as the Case Should Have Been Brought in the Juvenile Court Pending Certification to Adult Court; the District Court Further Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction Because Mr. Zalyaul was Arrested After the Age of 21

As an initial matter, the District Court erred in finding that it lacked jurisdiction to consider the Defense's argument on the matter of subject matter jurisdiction simply because the issue was raised after the filing of the Judgment

of Conviction (Bates 108). Jurisdictional issues can be raised at any point in the proceeding. "While Barber did not challenged jurisdiction in juvenile court or district court, jurisdiction issues can be raised at any time." *Barber v. State*, 131 Nev. 1065 (2015) (citing *Landreth v. Malik*, 127 Nev. 175, 179, 251 P.3d 163, 166 (2011); see also, *Colwell v. State*, 118 Nev. 807, 812 (2002) (holding that lack of subject matter jurisdiction can be raised for the first time on appeal).

Additionally, jurisdiction over the case still remained with the District Court until it vests in the Nevada Supreme Court with the filing of a Notice of Appeal. "Upon the filing of a timely notice of appeal, the district court is divested of jurisdiction and jurisdiction vests in this court." *Rust v. Clark Cty. School District*, 103 Nev. 686, 747 P.2d 1380 (1987); *Smith v. Emery*, 109 Nev. 737, 740, 856 P.2d 1386, 1388 (1993). As such, the District Court did have the lawful ability to consider Appellant's Motion to Dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on the merits. Nonetheless, as the District Court held it did not have jurisdiction to consider the Motion while simultaneously adopting the substantive reasoning set by the State, Appellant will also address the substantive issues ruled upon by the Court.

The Juvenile Courts for the State of Nevada are a creation of statute. *Kell v. State*, 96 Nev. 791, 792, 681 P.2d 350 (1980). "Although the juvenile court is

structurally organized as a division of the district court, the juvenile court is separate court with separate and exclusive jurisdiction" *Castillo v. State*, 106 Nev. 349, 353 n.2 (1990).

By statute, "the juvenile court has exclusive original jurisdiction over a child living or found within the county who is alleged or adjudicated to have committed a delinquent act." NRS 62B.330(1) (emphasis added). A "child" is defined as "[a] person who is less than 21 years of age and subject to the jurisdiction of the juvenile court for an unlawful act that was committed before the person reached 18 years of age." NRS 62A.030(1)(b). There is no reasonable dispute that Mr. Zalyaul was a legally defined "child" when the acts were committed, as he was 14 years old.

Further, the juvenile court does not have jurisdiction over acts that are not considered to be "delinquent acts," as outlined in NRS 62B.330(3) (emphasis added):

For the purposes of this section, each of the following acts shall be deemed not to be a delinquent act, and the juvenile court does not have jurisdiction over a person who is charged with committing such an act:

....

(b) Sexual assault or attempted sexual assault involving the use or threatened use of force or violence against the victim and any other related offense arising out of the same facts as

the sexual assault or attempted sexual assault, regardless of the nature of the related offense, if:

- (1) <u>The person was 16 years of age or older</u> when the sexual assault or attempted sexual assault was committed; and
- (2) Before the sexual assault or attempted sexual assault was committed, the person previously had been adjudicated for an act that would have been a felony if committed by an adult.

. . . .

(e) A category A or B felony and any other related offense arising out of the same facts as the Category A or B felony, regardless of the nature of the related offense, <u>if the person</u> was at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age when the offense was committed, and:

....

the person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense before the person is at least 20 years, 3 months of age, but less than 21 years of age...

Applied here, neither of these criteria for non-delinquent acts fully apply to Mr. Zalyaul's case. Mr. Zalyaul was only 14 years old at the time the acts occurred. It is unclear precisely when the victim made the initial report to law enforcement, but based on the year of the disclosure, Mr. Zalyaul would have been either 14 or 15 years old during the initial investigation period. Had the State prosecuted Mr. Zalyaul at the time the allegations were made, or within a reasonable period of time thereafter, the case would have fallen squarely within the purview of the juvenile court. Once the delinquency petition is filed, the juvenile court would determine whether Mr. Zalyaul would remain in the

juvenile court for delinquency proceedings or be certified to the adult criminal court depending on a variety of statutory factors.

Unlike the mandatory certification set forth in NRS 62B.390(2), Mr. Zalyaul's case falls within discretionary certification pursuant to NRS 62B.390(1). The certification process requires a motion filed by the district attorney and a full investigation by the juvenile court. The statute also sets forth factors for the juvenile court to consider against certification. If the juvenile court does not certify the child, the juvenile court retains jurisdiction over the child until the child reaches twenty-one years of age. See, NRS 62B.410(2).

In light of these statutes, there is a jurisdictional "gap" when determining what process exists for defendants who commit offenses while under the age of 16, but who are not prosecuted until *after* they turn 21 and are no longer eligible for the juvenile court's exercise of jurisdiction. NRS 62B.335 grants the juvenile court jurisdiction over an adult charged with delinquent acts

¹ "Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2 and NRS 62B.400, upon a motion by the district attorney and after a full investigation, the juvenile court **may** certify a child for proper criminal proceedings as an adult to any court that would have jurisdiction to try the offense if committed by an adult, if the child:

⁽a) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (b), is charged with an offense that would have been a felony if committed by an adult and was 14 years of age or older at the time the child allegedly committed the offense..." (emphasis added)

committed as a child, but does not apply because it only covers crimes committed by minors between the age of 16-18.²

Law enforcement's delay in prosecuting the allegations against Mr. Zalyaul has placed him in a limbo of sorts, where none of the juvenile court statutes clearly apply to his case and no clear jurisdictional determination exists in either the juvenile or district court. "The determination of whether to transfer a child from the statutory structure of the Juvenile Court to the criminal processes of the District Court is critically important." *Kent v. United States*, 383 U.S. 541, 560 (1966) (internal quotations omitted).

² (1) If:

⁽a) A person is charged with the commission of a delinquent act that occurred when the person was at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age;

⁽b) The delinquent act would have been a category A or B felony if committed by an adult;

⁽c) The person is identified by law enforcement as having committed the delinquent act before the person reaches 21 years of age; and

⁽d) The person is apprehended by law enforcement after the person reaches 21 years of age, the juvenile court has jurisdiction over the person to conduct a hearing and make the determinations required by this section in accordance with the provisions of this section.

Additionally, there exists no sufficient justification to excuse the State's delay in prosecuting Mr. Zalyaul. The named victim, S. D., and her mother filed a report with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department on September 13, 2013. Specific dates of the allegations were not disclosed. S. D. underwent a general medical examination at Sunrise Hospital on September 13, 2013.

According to the police report, attempts were made to locate Mr. Zalyaul, but S.D. and her mother provided information that he and his family had relocated back to Morocco where he attended high school. Mr. Zalyaul and his family returned to Las Vegas, Nevada in 2016, but still no action was taken for many years. In February 2019, Metro reopened their investigation. Five months later, on July 30, 2019, S.D. and her mother were again interviewed by Metro. Metro applied for an arrest warrant on or around October 14, 2019, which the Las Vegas Justice Court granted. Mr. Zalyaul was arrested on the warrant on January 7, 2020.

But for the State's delay, Mr. Zalyaul would have been prosecuted as a juvenile in the juvenile court, afforded all of the rights and resources available

to juveniles deemed delinquent.³ The entire purpose of the juvenile court serves to treat juveniles rather than punish them.⁴ The juvenile system focuses on treatment and rehabilitation more than punishment and incarceration.⁵

The adult court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction over Mr. Zalyaul's case, due to his age and juvenile status at the time of the alleged offenses, as the juvenile court has exclusive jurisdiction over offenses committed by children absent certification or a statutory exception. Absent proper subject matter jurisdiction over the case, it must be dismissed; further, the case could not be transferred back to the juvenile court due to Mr. Zalyaul being over the age of 21 at the time of his arrest. Although outright dismissal of these charges is an extraordinary remedy, it is the State's delay in prosecution that effectively

_

³ See, NRS 62 – Disposition of Cases by Juvenile Court (setting forth options for juveniles after adjudication, including but not limited to, commitment, restitution, community service, and alternative programs).

⁴ "Truly we want to keep children in juvenile court if we can help them. We do not want to escalate them up into adult circumstances and give them a record at such a young age and perhaps impact the rest of their lives." Hearing on S.B. 197 Before the Senate Judiciary Comm., 72d Leg. (Nev., March 7, 2003) (statement by Judge Cynthia Dianne Steel) (Bates 085).

⁵ "A child who is adjudicated pursuant to the provisions of this title is not a criminal and any adjudication is not a conviction, and a child may be charged with a crime or convicted in a criminal proceeding only as provided in this title." NRS 62E.010(1).

deprived *both* the juvenile and the adult courts of subject matter jurisdiction, and the only proper remedy is dismissal.

II. Law Enforcement's Seven-Year Delay in Prosecution Violated Appellant's Right to a Speedy Trial and Resulted in Substantial Prejudice to the Defense

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial." U.S. Const. Amend. VI. The right to a speedy trial is a "fundamental right" applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 515, 92 S. Ct. 2182 (1972). The definition of "speedy trial" has been explored by the Supreme Court of the United States in *Barker v. Wingo* and more recently *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 112 S. Ct. 2686 (1992), both of which set forth the standard utilized by the Nevada Supreme Court in *Inzunza v. State*. 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. 69, 454 P.3d 727 (2019).

Put simply, excessive delay between the disclosure of accusations and eventual apprehension or arrest of the accused unfairly prejudices a defendant. In *Barker*, the U.S. Supreme Court set forth four factors the courts should use to determine whether a defendant has been deprived his speedy trial right: (1) length of delay, (2) the reason for the delay, (3) the defendant's assertion of his

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