IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

HAMZA ZALYAUL,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 18 2022 07:18 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 83334

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

KELSEY BERNSTEIN, ESQ. Nevada Bar #013825 DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010755 Nevada Defense Group 714 S. Fourth Street Las, Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 988-2600

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this matter and therefore it must be dismissed. Zalyaul's argument relies almost entirely on the district court's denial of his Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, Motion to Reconsider Sentence rather than Zalyaul's Judgment of Conviction. "No statute or court rule provides for an appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss or a motion for an evidentiary hearing." McCallister v. State, 420 P.3d 562 (Nev. 2018)(unpublished). Zalyaul also cites the denial of a Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, which was made orally and without merit after Zalyaul was sentenced to a legal sentence that he was unhappy with.

If this Court does find that it has jurisdiction to hear this matter, Zalyaul waived all rights to appeal pursuant to his Guilty Plea Agreement in district court.

As to the decisions made on the substantive issues in district court:

First, the district court correctly denied Zalyaul's Motion to Dismiss because he waived any arguments about the district court's jurisdiction. Even if Zalyaul had not waived his arguments, the district court still correctly decided on the merits finding juvenile court had no jurisdiction over Zalyaul, and Zalyaul waived all rights to appeal this issue.

Second, the district court correctly denied Zalyaul's Motion to Dismiss because it found that he had waived his speedy trial rights. Even if he hadn't waived his right

to a speedy trial, application of the facts to the test delineated in <u>Doggett v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 505 U.S. 647, 647, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 2688, 120 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1992) and <u>Barker v. Wingo</u>, 407 U.S. 514, 531, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 2192, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972) show that Zalyaul's rights were not violated.

Finally, the district court correctly denied Zalyaul's oral Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea after he was sentenced. The district court is not bound to the negotiated recommended sentence and imposed a legal sentence. Additionally, Zalyaul freely and voluntarily entered his guilty plea, he understood the range of punishment for the crime in which he was pleading guilty, and he understood that sentencing was solely within the discretion of the district court, regardless of his agreement. Zalyaul also failed to demonstrate any manifest injustice to withdraw his guilty plea. NRS 176.165. Zalyaul's *exclusive remedy* to withdraw his plea after sentencing is a habeas petition, which he did not file. <u>Harris v. State</u>, 130 Nev. 435, 329 P.3d 619 (2014). See also NRS 34.724.

ARGUMENT

I. ZALYAUL'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT LACKS JURSIDICTION

Most of Zalyaul's claims are from the denial of his Motion to Dismiss, not a Judgement of Conviction. Zalyaul's Opening Brief ("AOB") iv. <u>See Castillo v.</u> <u>State</u>, 106 Nev. 349, 352, 792 P.2d 1133, 1135 (1990) (observing the right to appeal is statutory, and, where no statutory authority provides for appeal, there is no right

to appeal). "No statute or court rule provides for an appeal from an order denying a motion to dismiss or a motion for an evidentiary hearing." McCallister v. State, 420 P.3d 562 (Nev. 2018)(unpublished). Zalyual also cites a denial from an oral Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea which was meritless, came after sentencing, and was not filed as a petition for writ of habeas corpus as required by Harris v. State, 130 Nev. 435, 329 P.3d 619 (2014). See also NRS 34.724.

Zalyaul claims that the issues he is appealing are from a Judgement of Conviction, but the substance of the appeal does not bear that out. Zalyaul does not provide any authority for the initial filing of a Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, to Reconsider Sentence, after sentencing had occurred; much less any statutory authority for the courts of appeals to consider an appeal from such a motion. Because this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal, it should dismiss the appeal.

II. ZALYAUL'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE HE WAIVED ANY RIGHT TO APPEAL.

Should this Court determine that the Court does have jurisdiction, Zalyaul waived his right to appeal when he plead guilty. First, language in the written and signed Guilty Plea Agreement waives those rights.

WAIVER OF RIGHTS

By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the following rights and privileges:

. . .

6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds that challenge the legality of the proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

AA 005. (emphasis added).

Second, Zalyaul was orally canvassed at his initial arraignment where he again acknowledges that he was waiving his right to Appeal when he pled guilty:

THE COURT: And you understand that you're giving up certain appellate rights by pleading guilty? THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.

AA 015-016.

As such, this matter should be dismissed because, respectfully, the Nevada Supreme Court lacks jurisdiction. However, even if this Court finds it has jurisdiction to hear this matter, Zalyaul explicitly and unambiguously waived his right to appeal.

Notwithstanding the above arguements, in the interest of being thorough, the State will now address Zalyaul's substantive claims.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED ZALYAUL'S MOTION TO DISMISS BECAUSE HE WAIVED JURSIDICTIONAL ARGUMENTS AND, EVEN IF HE HADN'T, JURISDICTION WAS CORRECTLY DECIDED.

Zalyual argues, "The adult court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction over Mr. Zalyaul's case, due to his age and juvenile status at the time of the alleged offenses, as the juvenile court has exclusive jurisdiction over offenses committed by children absent certification or a statutory exception." AOB 15. First, Zalyual waived his right to argue jurisdictional issues both when he plead guilty and at sentencing. Second, the district court correctly determined that under NRS 62B.330 and NRS 62B335, because Zayaul was under 16 when he committed the crimes and 21 when he was arrested, juvenile court did not have jurisdiction. AA 110-111.

a. Zalyual Waived His Right to Argue Jurisdictional Issues

As quoted above, but also relevant here, in Zalyaul's GPA, he explicitly waives his right to appeal jurisdictional issues.

WAIVER OF RIGHTS

By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the following rights and privileges:

. . .

6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional, *jurisdictional* or other grounds that challenge the legality of the proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

AA 005. (emphasis added).

Not only did Zalyaul waive his right to appeal generally, but he also explicitly waived the right to appeal jurisdictional issues when he pled guilty.

Furthermore, Zalyaul's attorney at sentencing, Mr. Damian Sheets, Esq., again waived the right to argue jurisdictional issues and spoke at length regarding the negotiations, making it clear that jurisdiction had been considered when ultimately coming to an agreement:

From the standpoint of a jurisdictional, and this is why the negotiation was structured the way it was, it's our office's belief that there is somewhat of a -- I would say maybe a blind spot in the jurisdictional statute as it relates to the age of an offense of this nature and the original court of jurisdiction being family court. And what happens is there are some compulsory rules regarding a child who's the age of 16 or 17 and then there are not compulsory rules in this type of a case when you have somebody of 15 years of age.

And our office was prepared to, and had discussed at length with the District Attorney, the possibility that jurisdiction with this case would rest with the juvenile court and that's based on the fact that the statutes indicate or would have required if he's apprehended at 21-years-old that it is mandatorily in the juvenile court system, but the statutes stay silent as to an apprehension beyond that particular age. And it was our office's position, obviously, because you're dealing with somebody who's in a very different developmental state of mind and that's why the jurisdictional statute exists.

And as part of that, there was the discussion of possibly briefing the case, sending it to juvenile court, and arguing back and forth with the District Attorneys, interestingly enough the second case we've had in this same set of facts and I've actually approached a state legislature before this session talking about the issue and that it needed to be cleaned up, it never got addressed. And so this case continues on in the circumstance.

So when we were trying to structure a deal, we were trying to look at what the situation would be had he been charged a juvenile,

what were the potential punishments. And the potential punishments were that he could have been incarcerated up to 21 and then after a number of years, 27. You can seek to have things amended down, you can seek to have things sealed, and that's essentially what we tried to structure here as well at the adult level waiving any of the jurisdictional arguments.

AA 024-026. (emphasis added).

Zalyaul's attorney explicitly waived any jurisdictional arguments. AA 026. Zalyaul's argument at sentencing shows that Zalyaul had the opportunity to raise jurisdictional issues, had the opportunity to explore attempting to go to juvenile court, and ultimately decided not to and instead enter into a GPA. In this discussion, counsel acknowledged these facts are in a legal grey area, but that ultimately Zalyaul decided to enter in this deal for his benefit.

As such, Zalyaul specifically waived raising jurisdictional issues twice: once in his GPA (AA 005), and once during through counsel at sentencing (AA 024-026). While the waiver of these jurisdictional issues is dispositive, the State will also address the merits of Zalyaul's claims.

b. The District Court Reached the Correct Conclusion Regarding the Jurisdictional Issue on the Merits.

The district court ultimately denied Zalyaul's Motion to Dismiss on this issue on the merits finding that, "According to NRS 62B.330 and NRS 62B.335, Defendant was under the age of 16 when he committed the offense and was over the age of 21 when he was apprehended by law enforcement, therefore juvenile court

does not have jurisdiction, as jurisdiction properly lays with the District Court." AA 100-111. The district court was correct.

Juvenile court is not the proper venue for this case and was not at the time of the plea in this case. Juvenile court is a court of limited jurisdiction created by statute. NRS 62B.330, states in pertinent part:

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in this title, the juvenile court has exclusive original jurisdiction over a child living or found within the county who is alleged or adjudicated to have committed a delinquent act.
- 2. For the purposes of this section, a child commits a delinquent act if the child: . . .
- (c) Commits an act designated a criminal offense pursuant to the laws of the State of Nevada.
- 3. For the purposes of this section, each of the following acts shall be deemed not to be a delinquent act, and the juvenile court does not have jurisdiction over a person who is charged with committing such an act:
- (b) Sexual assault or attempted sexual assault involving the use or threatened use of force or violence against the victim and any other related offense arising out of the same facts as the sexual assault or attempted sexual assault, regardless of the nature of the related offense, if:
- (1) The person was 16 years of age or older when the sexual assault or attempted sexual assault was committed; and . . .
- (e) A category A or B felony and any other related offense arising out of the same facts as the category A or B felony, regardless of the nature of the related offense, if the person was at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age when the offense was committed, and:
- (1) The person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense and charged before the person is at least 20 years, 3 months of age, but less than 21 years of age; or

(2) The person is not identified by law enforcement as having committed the offense until the person reaches 21 years of age.

NRS 62B.330 (emphasis added).

Accordingly, Zalyaul was 14 when he committed the instant offenses, he was not 16-18 years of age, and he was not apprehended until he was over the age of 21. The juvenile court does not have jurisdiction because he is not a child. Zalyaul was born in September 1998, and was arrested on January 7, 2020, making him 21 years, 3 months, and 27 days old at the time of his arrest. NRS 62B.335 discusses the Jurisdiction of juvenile court over Adults who committed Certain Delinquent Acts as children and reads in pertinent part:

1. If:

- (a) A person is charged with the commission of a delinquent act that occurred when the person was at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age;
- (b) The delinquent act would have been a category A or B felony if committed by an adult;
- (c) The person is identified by law enforcement as having committed the delinquent act before the person reaches 21 years of age; and
- (d) The person is apprehended by law enforcement after the person reaches 21 years of age, the juvenile court has jurisdiction over the person to conduct a hearing and make the determinations required by this section in accordance with the provisions of this section.
- 2. The juvenile court shall conduct a hearing to determine whether there is probable cause to believe that the person committed the delinquent act.
- 3. If the juvenile court determines that there is not probable cause to believe that the person committed the

delinquent act, the juvenile court shall dismiss the charges and discharge the person.

NRS 62B.335.

The juvenile court does not have jurisdiction over Zalyaul under this statute as well as he was not at least 16 years of age but less than 18 years of age when the crimes occurred and over 21 years of age when apprehended.

This issue is further discussed in <u>Stave v. Barren</u>, 128 Nev. 337 (2012). The Barren court held that:

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